IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY; TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA; FIDELITY AND GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY; AND THE UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTYCOMPANY

APPELLANTS

V.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01248

ED MORGAN, CHAIRMAN, MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION

CONSOLIDATED WITH

FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-1931

JOSEPH L. BLOUNT, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS COMMISSIONER OF THE MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS		
COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI		

BRIEF OF APPELLANT	
0	RAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURTS ERRED IN FINDING NO CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS BY THE MISSISSIPPI TAX COMMISSION
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURTS ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE SURETIES LACKED STANDING.
- III. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURTS ERRED IN APPLYING MISSISSIPPI CONTRACT LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The actions at issue in the present consolidated appeal were initiated by the Appellants, Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Company, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America and The United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company (collectively referenced as "Sureties") challenging the constitutionality of certain practices of the Appellee, the Mississippi State Tax Commission ("MTC") related to contractor tax bonds ("Riders"). (Rec02, 22-25) (Rec09, 142-167)¹

On June 26, 2002, Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Company ("F&G"), a surety company licensed and operating in Mississippi, filed suit in the Chancery Court of Hinds County challenging the constitutionality of the threat of the Mississippi State Tax Commission ("MTC") to seize its assets in Mississippi if it did not pay without question a sum the MTC alleged was due by its principal Aaim Construction, Inc. for alleged unpaid taxes, penalties and accrued interest. ("Aaim Action") (Rec02. 1-4) After discovery, the MTC moved for summary judgment (Rec02. 186). F&G filed a cross motion for summary judgment (Rec02. 43-185). On October 21, 2008, the Chancellor (Patricia Wise) overruled F&G's Motion and granted the MTC's. (Rec. Ex. Tab 3). F&G filed timely Notice of Appeal on November 19, 2008. (Rec. Ex. Tab 1)

On February 13, 2009, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul"), Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America ("Travelers"), F&G and United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company ("USF&G") filed another action in the same Court ("Multi-

¹ For the purposes of this brief, citations to the record on appeal are abbreviated as follows: "Rec02." indicates a citation to the clerk's papers by page number with Aaim Action; "Rec09" "Rec. Ex. Tab" indicates a citation to the Mandatory and Appellant's Record Excerpts by tab "TR 1" indicates a citation to the transcript of the hearing held on June 10, 2008; "TR 2" indicates a citation to the transcript of the hearing held on March 13, 2009. "Rec09." indicates a citation to the clerk's papers by page number in the Multi-party action.

party Action against the MTC on similar facts and similar issues but different sureties and bonded principals (Rec09. 1). An amended complaint was filed on March 10, 2009 (Rec09. 142). In response, on March 17, 2009 the MTC filed its Motion to Dismiss (Rec09. 424). After briefing and oral arguments, the Chancellor (William Hale Singletary) entered his order on July 9, 2009 granting MTC's Motion and dismissing the Plaintiff's Complaint (Rec. Ex. Tab 4). The Plaintiff's filed a timely Notice of Appeal on July 27, 2009.

Upon joint motion of all parties, these matters were consolidated for appeal. The issues presented in this consolidated appeal are now ripe for determination by this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the MTC's disregard for the rights of sureties to be treated fairly and to receive due process of law. The lower court's failure to require the MTC to operate within the constraints of these rights mandates reversal.

Overview

The Appellants herein are all related surety companies authorized to do and doing business as sureties for construction companies in the State of Mississippi.

Pursuant to § 31-5-57 Miss Code Ann (1972), every construction company which performs a public construction contract in excess of \$25,000 in the State of Mississippi is required to post a performance and payment bond in the amount of the contract. Pursuant to § 27-65-21 Miss Code Ann (1972), the MTC also requires each of these bonds to contain a so-called "tax rider" by which, in addition to guaranteeing the contractor's performance of the construction contract, the surety also guarantees the contractor's payment of taxes that may be assessed against it by the State of Mississippi.

In each of the cases presented by these two consolidated actions, the MTC found that the respective contractors ("Principals") had failed to pay all of certain taxes assessed against them,

assessed additional taxes and then penalties based on the MTC judgment of the egregiousness of the contractor's default and interest running from the due date of the taxes.² (Rec09.145-146) (Rec. Ex. Tab 5) However, in none of the cases did the MTC give the respective sureties notice of the additional assessment or the contractor's failure to pay. (Rec09. 145) In several instances, the contractor's contested the assessments and were granted a hearing before the MTC. The surety was never given notice of these hearings. Importantly, the MTC has taken the position that even if the surety had been aware of the appeal hearings, it would not have been allowed to participate. (Rec09.144)

It is undisputed that in each of the cases that the first notice the sureties received of the assessments was often years after the fact and after substantial sums of penalties and interest had accrued on the balances. (Rec09. 144) It is also undisputed that even at that late date, the only notice the sureties received was a certified letter advising them that if they did not pay the then current amounts of taxes, penalties and interest within ten days, their assets in the State of Mississippi would be seized. (Rec09.168) This is not a matter of mere administrative mishandling. The MTC has taken the position that this late coming demand and threat of seizure is the only notice to which the sureties are entitled. (Rec09. 145)

Two other key factual points are important to a proper understanding of these cases. First, in each instance, the bonded contractors were no longer in business and their assets and business records had long since disappeared by the time the sureties received their first notice. In some instances, the contractor had gone out of business at the time of the assessment and thus gave no response to the MTC. (Rec09. 145) Second, in many of the cases, the MTC's

² The penalties are not mandatory but are discretionary both as to assessment and amount based on the MTC's view of the contractor's default. In none of these cases were the penalties assessed based on any conduct of the sureties.

assessment for which demand had been made against the sureties under threat of seizure of their assets, were admittedly incorrect. In one instance outlined in more detail below, had the surety simply paid the demand when made by the MTC, it would have paid over \$263,000 which the MTC now admits was never due. (Rec09. 150) In other words, despite demanding immediate payment under threat of seizure, MTC subsequently conceded that its demand was in error.

Incredibly, the fundamental basis for the MTC's refusal to provide the sureties with any notice of the assessments until years after the fact is its contention that the sureties are not the "taxpayer". (Rec09. 145) (Rec09. 424) Thus, according to the MTC, the sureties are not entitled to anything but a ten (10) day letter before their assets are seized, sent long after the assessment of the taxes, penalties and interest.

It is undisputed in both cases that the MTC was very aware at all times of the existence of the sureties and how to contact them as they maintained copies of the Tax Riders in their files (Rec09. 144)

However, the MTC took the position in the courts below that the sureties were not entitled to any notice of the original assessments, had no right to challenge the assessments had they somehow learned of the assessment and had no right to participate in any hearings in the event the contractors may have appealed the assessments (Rec09. 145). Once the sureties received their ten (10) day demand letters, the MTC also took the position that the sureties had no legal right to challenge the assessments of additional taxes, the assessment of penalties, or the interest. (Rec09. 145) Importantly, even if the sureties had paid the demanded sums under protest, and it was later determined, as was often the case, that the assessments were in error, it was the position of the MTC that any refund of any sums overpaid by the sureties would have to be paid to the contractor/principal, not the surety which paid it. (Rec09. 157-158)

In the Aaim Action matter, after discovery, the matter proceeded to hearing on cross-motions for summary judgment (TR 1-46). The Chancellor granted MTC's motion and denied F&G's. In the Multi-Party action, the MTC filed its Motion to Dismiss thus admitting all well pled allegations of the Complaint (Rec09. 475). The Chancellor, however, granted the MTC's Motion and dismissed the Complaint (Rec09. 484)

The Aaim Bonds

On November 8, 2001, the State Tax Commission ("Commission") sent a letter to F&G demanding payment of \$131,880.00 allegedly owed by its bonded contractor, Aaim Construction ("Aaim"), for unpaid sales taxes, penalties and interest assessed against Aaim (Rec02. 26) The letter stated that the "taxpayer," Aaim, had "been given *due process* of law to enable it to exercise all rights provided by the Sales Tax Law." (Rec02. 26) The letter threatened tax warrants and liens against F&G as surety for Aaim unless the demanded payment was not paid within ten (10) days. (Rec02. 26) This letter did not provide for any form of hearing and/or review prior to payment. (Rec02. 43) This letter was the *first and only notice* F&G had regarding the MTC's assessment against Aaim and/or its own potential liability as surety for Aaim. (Rec02. 67, 82) The time period for tendering the amount demanded was extended by agreement of counsel and F&G tendered a check in the amount of \$131,880.00 under protest on December 18, 2001. (Rec02. 122)

Aaim applied for and was granted a state tax identification number in 1988. (Rec02. 123) In 1991, Aaim was audited by the Commission with no additional sales taxes assessed. (Rec02. 124) In 1994, the Commission again conducted an audit of Aaim. This time, the Commission assessed Aaim with an additional \$16,205.23 in unpaid sales taxes and \$2,877.70 in penalties and interest. (Rec02. 130) On April 23, 1998, the Commission again audited Aaim and, once again, assessed additional taxes, interest and a penalty of 15%. (Rec02. 132) The total

assessment for taxes, penalties and interest resulting from the 1998 audit was \$81,654.00. In between the 1998 audit and the 2001 audit, which is the subject of this litigation, the Commission levied numerous tax liens and/or cited Aaim for various failures to accurately calculate and pay sales tax. (Rec02. 133)

On May 16, 2001, the Commission again audited Aaim. Once again, the Commission found that Aaim had not accurately reported sales tax and levied additional taxes in the amount of \$116,479.00, interest in the amount of \$20,770.00, and penalties in the amount of \$29,120.00, or 25% of the unpaid taxes. (Rec02. 168) Importantly, MTC's auditor *only* kept copies of his own working papers and did not make copies of any of the documents underlying and/or justifying the amount he determined to be unpaid taxes. (Rec02. 87, 111) The auditor who determined the amount of the assessment is no longer employed by the Commission. (Rec02. 93, 104)

On June 21, 2001, Aaim requested a hearing before the MTC's Board of Review ("Review Board"). (Rec02. 178) Without notice to F&G, a hearing was held before the Review Board on August 2, 2001 wherein the MTC agreed to waive all penalties assessed and half of the interest assessed if Aaim paid the remaining sums within thirty (30) days. In the alternative, the MTC agreed to waive all penalties at the end of twelve months provided that Aaim paid the taxes and interest according to a payment schedule proposed by the MTC. (Rec02. 179) Aaim informed the MTC that it was financially unable to do either. The Board was well aware of F&G's interest in the proceedings. In the minutes of the August 2, 2001 hearing, the Review Board acknowledged that "all of the jobs in the assessment were bonded except for jobs representing \$1,900.00 of the taxes due." (Rec02. 183) The Review Board decided that "collection should be made against the bonding company if the *tax* could not be collected from the taxpayer." (Rec02. 180) As noted, F&G had *no notice* of the August 2, 2001 hearing before

the Review Board and *no opportunity to be heard*. F&G was *never* advised of the Board's decision. (Rec02. 112)

In its rule 30(b)(6) deposition, the MTC admitted that each of the F&G bonds upon which demand was made pursuant to the November 8, 2001 letter had been filed with the Commission long before the 2001 audit. (Rec02. 180) The Commission further admitted that it knew how to contact F&G as its mailing address was clearly identified on the bonds. (Rec02. 57-60) Finally, the Commission admitted that it made no attempt whatsoever to contact F&G or to and give it notice of the hearing held on August 2, 2001, the offer to waive penalties and half of the interest made to Aaim pursuant thereto or Aaim's advice that it could not meet the payment plan. (Rec02 81, 82, 90, 106, 107, 112) As set forth above, the first time the MTC *ever* contacted F&G with regard to the assessment was on November 8, 2001, some three (3) months after the hearing and some seven (7) years after the MTC became aware that there was a problem with Aaim.

On December 18, 2001, F&G paid the \$131,880.00 assessment "under protest" (Rec02. 24, 27). On June 26, 2002, F&G filed suit in the Chancery Court of Hinds County challenging the propriety of MTC's assessment. F&G sought a refund and an order directing MTC to release to F&G the entirety of Aaim's files so that F&G could investigate what, if any, taxes are actually due. (Rec02. 24 & 30). After discovery, both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment (Rec02. 43 & 186)

On October 21, 2008, the Chancellor (Patricia Wise) overruled F&G's Motion and granted MTC's Motion. In her Judgment and Opinion, the Chancellor found that the MTC had satisfied its due process obligations when it notified only Aaim of the assessment, penalties and interest. (Rec. Ex. Tab 3) In fact, she specifically found that Aaim was the only party entitled to due process rights. (Rec. Ex. Tab 3) She further found that pursuant to § 27-3-73 Miss Code Ann., the MTC was prohibited from giving any notice to F&G as to tax assessments against

Aaim. (Rec. Ex. Tab 3) Finally, the Chancellor held that any relationship between the MTC and F&G was governed solely by the terms of the bond and the "tax rider" attached thereto and nothing in either document required the MTC to give F&G any notice of the assessment, penalties or interest until such time as the MTC decided to collect them from the Surety. (Rec. Ex. Tab 3)

The Pryor & Frazier Bonds

On or about May 31, 2002, St. Paul provided a performance and payment bond for its principal, Pryor & Frazier Construction, Inc. ("Pryor & Frazier") with regard to a construction project at the Jamie Whitten Delta State Research Center, Stoneville, Mississippi, being Bond Number ST9089. (Rec09. 170-171) Attached to that bond was the MTC's form Tax Rider dated June 5, 2002. (Rec09. 169) Seven years later, on January 8, 2009, the MTC forwarded to St. Paul, a demand that it pay the sum of \$772,022.00, being \$368.458.00 in allegedly unpaid taxes, \$184,226.00 in penalties and \$219,346.00 in interest, all allegedly owed the State of Mississippi by Pryor & Frazier. (Rec09. 168) The demand gave St. Paul, ten (10) days to pay the demanded sum in full or risk the seizure of its assets in the State of Mississippi (Rec02. 146, 148) The January 8, 2009 demand letter was the first notice provided to St. Paul that its principal, Pryor & Frazier, allegedly owed any unpaid taxes, penalties or interest. (Rec09. 146)

The penalties and interest demanded by the MTC's January 8, 2009 letter all accrued prior to St. Paul being given any notice of any tax delinquency (Rec09. 146) If audits were conducted and/or hearings held with regard to the assessment of the taxes against Pryor & Frasier, St. Paul was provided no notice of such audits or hearings. (Rec09. 147) Indeed, St. Paul had no notice of the delinquency of any taxes or the assessment of any penalties or interest with regard to its principal, Pryor & Frazier, until the January 8, 2009 letter (Rec09 147). Consistent with its treatment of F&G in the Aaim matter, it was the position of the MTC that St. Paul, as

surety, was not entitled to any notice of the delinquency of any taxes due the State of Mississippi by Pryor & Frazier, no notice or copies of any audits, or any notice of any hearing on any appeal of the assessment of taxes, penalties and interest, other than the January 8, 2009 letter. (Rec09. 147)

Sometime between the date of the assessments of the alleged taxes against Pryor & Frazier and the MTC's first notice to St. Paul, Pryor & Frazier ceased doing business. (Rec09. 147)³

The Frazier & Williams Bonds

Travelers issued performance bonds with Tax Riders on the Mississippi Tax Commission form to Frazier & Williams Construction, Inc. ("Frazier & Williams") regarding the following projects: (1) Fairpark Crossing Project-Tupelo, Mississippi on or about December 1, 2004; (2) Mississippi Employees Federal Credit Union-Tupelo, Mississippi on or about July 23, 2005 and (3) Santa Fe Restaurant-Tupelo, Mississippi on or about May 22, 2006. (Rec09. 173-175)

On or about October 27, 2008, the MTC forwarded to Travelers, a demand that it pay the sum of \$200,921.00, in taxes, penalties and interest allegedly owed the State of Mississippi by Frazier & Williams or risk seizure of its assets in the State of Mississippi. (Rec09. 172) Thereafter, on or about December 29, 2008, the MTC forwarded to Travelers a "corrected claim" and demanded that it pay the sum of \$87,656.60, being \$67,160.60 in unpaid taxes, \$2,305.00 in penalties and \$18,191.00 in interest allegedly owed by Frazier & Williams. (Rec09. 149, 176) This notice thus reduced MTC's claim by \$113,264.40. The demand gave Travelers, ten (10) days to pay the demanded sum in full or face seizure of its assets in Mississippi. (Rec09. 149, 176)

³ Although outside the record, on June 22, 2009, while awaiting the Chancellor's decision, St. Paul paid, "under protest," the \$368,450 in taxes assessed.

The October 27, 2008 and December 29, 2008 demand letters were the first and only notice provided to Travelers by the MTC that its principal, Frazier & Williams, allegedly owed any amount of unpaid taxes, penalties or interest. (Rec09. 149) Further, all penalties and interest accrued prior to Travelers having received any notice whatsoever. Had Travelers paid the \$200,921.00 demanded in the MTC's October 27, 2008 demand letter, it would have overpaid the State of Mississippi by \$113,264.40.

Sometime between the date of the above referenced assessments against Frazier & Williams and MTC's first notice to Plaintiff, Travelers, Frazier & Williams ceased doing business. (Rec09.151)⁴

The Cobb Land Development Bonds (I)

On or about October 19, 2000, F&G issued a performance bond and Tax Rider for the Tunica Airport Site Preparation contract for its principal, Cobb Land Development, Inc. ("Cobb"). On or about February 19, 2001, F&G issued a performance bond and Tax Rider for Cobb for the Jennings Biozone Hazard Mitigation Project. (Rec09. 190) The MTC claims that, in addition to the above, F&G also issued a Tax Rider for Cobb in July 2000 for the New Noxubee High School Site Development Package. (Rec09. 152) However, F&G has found no evidence that any such bond was ever issued and the MTC failed to offer an executed copy of the same in the proceedings below. (Rec09. 152, 186) On or about July 29, 2004, the MTC made demand upon F&G for the sum of \$398,074.00, being \$328,071.00 in taxes, \$37,195.00 in interest and \$32,808.00 in penalties related to the Noxubee County High School, Jennings Biozone Hazard Mitigation Project and the Tunica Airport. The demand letter gave F&G ten

⁴ Although outside the record, on January 26, 2010, St. Paul paid, "under protest", the \$67,160.10 in taxes assessed.

(10) days to pay the demanded sum in full or face seizure of its assets in Mississippi (Rec09. 153 & 203)

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