IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY; TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA; FIDELITY AND GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY; AND THE UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTY COMPANY

APPELLANTS

v.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01248

ED MORGAN, CHAIRMAN, MISSISSIPPI STATE TAX COMMISSION

APPELLEE

CONSOLIDATED WITH

FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY APPELLANT

v. CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01931

JOSEPH L. BLOUNT, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS
COMMISSIONER OF THE MISSISSIPPI STATE
TAX COMMISSION
APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURTS OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

James L. Powell, M.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission believes and asserts that the case *sub judice* is nothing more than a simple contract case and that, as a result of surety agreements entered into by and between the principal taxpayers and the Appellants, the Appellants became liable to the State of Mississippi for the tax, penalty and interest arising as the result of tax audits and subsequent assessments against the taxpayers by the Commission. The Commission asserts (1) that the penal sum of the

bonds or surety agreements in question clearly provided for the payment of tax, penalty and interest and that the payment thereof to the Commission by the Appellants as surety is entirely consistent with Mississippi law; (2) that the Commission had the authority to require that the bonds guarantee the payment of tax, penalty and interest and that the Appellants should be estopped from arguing that the bonds can only guarantee the payment of tax owing by the principal when the bonds expressly require the payment of tax, penalty and interest, were issued by Appellants without objection and relied upon by the Commission; (3) that collecting the sum of tax, penalty and interest assessed to the taxpayers from Appellants does not absolve the taxpayers from its mistakes and unfairly shift the burden of the penalty to Appellants because Appellants are engaged in the business of issuing such bonds and assumed the risk inherent in the issuance thereof, and because the taxpayers remain liable to Appellants for the full sum of the tax, penalty and interest paid by Appellants; and (4) that the Appellants attempt to have the constitutional due process guarantees afforded to the principals as taxpayers extended to Appellants in their capacity, not as taxpayers, but as sureties, is novel and unprecedented, would upset traditional understandings of contract law, would be in conflict with express confidentiality provisions of the tax code and could subject Commission employees to loss of employment and criminal sanctions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This matter involves judicial review of an administrative agency's determination. It is well established that when an administrative determination has been made by the Commission the affected party may appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal, but that, because the Court cannot enter the field of administrative agency, the Court will only entertain the appeal to determine whether or not the action of the administrative agency (1) was supported by substantial evidence, (2) was arbitrary or capricious, (3) was beyond the power of the

administrative agency to make, or (4) violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party. See Mississippi State Tax Comm'n v. Mask, 667 So.2d 1313, 1314-15 (Miss. 1995) and Mississippi State Tax Comm'n v. Vicksburg Terminal, Inc., 592 So. 2d 959, 961 (Miss. 1991). To the extent the Appellants have raised constitutional issues; the appeal is de novo on those issues alone.

ARGUMENT

THE COURTS BELOW DID NOT ERR IN FINDING NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATIONS

This Is A Contract Case

Appellants spend twenty plus pages arguing that they are entitled to substantive and procedural due process. Like the herring that is dragged across a trail to throw the hounds off scent, the Commission respectfully advises the Court not to allow this argument to divert it from the central issue. As both Courts hearing this matter below determined, this is a contract issue not an issue of constitutional law. (Rec02, 776; Rec09, 475). Appellants were the sureties on several bonds wherein various construction businesses were designated as principals and the owners of the various projects were designated as obligees with one of the conditions under the bonds being the payment of all taxes, damages, interest and penalties, which may accrue to the State of Mississippi. Appellants had a contractual relationship with their principals to guarantee the payment of certain tax liabilities in the event the principals defaulted on making the payments. Appellants, as the sureties, do not have standing to raise the constitutional issues of procedural and substantive due process owed and provided to their principals (taxpayers).

The Sureties Were Not Entitled To Due Process

Appellants seek to have due process rights enjoyed by their principals, as taxpayers, extended to them in their capacity as a surety. Due process is difficult to quantify. In that regard it has been said that:

The term "due process of law" asserts a fundamental principle of justice, rather than a specific rule of law, and thus is not susceptible of more than a general statement of its intent and meaning, which are ascertained in the history of specific applications to cases requiring judicial decisions. The primary guide in determining whether a principle is a fundamental principle of justice protected by the Due Process Clause is historical practice.

16B Am. Jur. 2D, Constitutional Law, § 896.

In the case before the Court, Appellants seek to upset well-established law in favor an unprecedented constitutional standard. The Courts "are bound to enforce contract language as written and give it its plain and ordinary meaning if it is clear and unambiguous." *Mississippi Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. Britt*, 2001-CA-01011-SCT (Miss. 2002). Each of the bonds issued by Appellants specifically provides for the payment of "tax, damages, interest and penalties."

It is also well settled that a creditor has no obligation to care for the interests of the surety. It has been said that:

Inasmuch as the creditor owes no duty of active diligence to take care of the interests of the surety, his mere failure voluntarily to give information to the surety of the default of the principal cannot have the effect of discharging the surety. The surety is bound to take notice of the principal's default and to perform the obligation and he cannot complain that the creditor has not notified him in the absence of a special agreement or express provision in the surety contract.

74 Am. Jur. 2D, Suretyship, § 30.

Furthermore, the bonds in question only authorize the Commission to release confidential taxpayer information to the surety in the event of a claim. Each of the bonds contains the following language:

NOTWITHSTANDING the tax information and return confidentiality provisions contained in Sections 27-65-1 et seq., 27-67-1 et seq., 27-7-1 et seq., 27-13-1 et seq., 27-7-301 et seq., and 27-55-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, and amendments thereto, principal hereby authorizes the State Tax Commission to release to surety any information relating to any claim against said surety made by the State Tax Commission which is covered by this bond.

(Example at Rec02, 348) (emphasis added). The bonds contain no provision requiring the Commission to notify a surety of any default by its principal. Should the Commission have

released the information prior to making a claim, as demanded by Appellants, the Commission would have been in clear violation of Sections 27-3-73 and 27-65-81 Miss. Code Ann., in the case now before the Court. Section 27-3-73 Miss. Code Ann., provides

[e]xcept in accordance with proper judicial order, it shall be unlawful for the members of the State Tax Commission, any deputy, agent, clerk or other officer or employee, to divulge or make known in any manner the amount of income or any particulars set forth or disclosed in any report or return required on any taxes collected by reports received by the State Tax Commission.

Section 27-65-81 Miss. Code Ann., provides that

[a]pplications, returns and information contained therein filed or furnished under this chapter shall be confidential, and except in accordance with proper judicial order or as otherwise authorized by this section, it shall be unlawful for members of the State Tax Commission or members of the Central Data Processing Authority, any deputy, agent, clerk or other officer or employee thereof, or any former employee thereof to divulge or make known in any manner the amount of income or any particulars set forth or disclosed on any application, report or return required.

Additionally, releasing the information prior to making a claim could conceivably result in the imposition of criminal penalties and the loss of employment under Section 27-7-87 Miss. Code Ann., if the audit involved income taxes.

The Commission has twice argued that the sureties have an implied obligation to know their principals. They are in the best position to monitor their principals in the performance of the terms of the bond. They certainly have the contractual ability to periodically require the principals to keep the sureties apprised of their financial status, proof of performance and conformity to tax laws. Additionally, they can require the principals to provide waivers or powers of attorney to allow the sureties to communicate with the Commission relative to tax matters on bonded projects. (TR1, 29-30; TR2, 34-36). The use of powers of attorney and waivers of confidentiality has been common with the Commission for many years. There is nothing new in the Commission's requirement that one be presented prior to the Commission's divulgence of confidential information to a third party.

In the matter of American Fidelity Fire Ins. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization, 34 Cal. App. 3d 51 (1973), the California Court of Appeals addressed a matter almost on point with the instant appeal before this Court. When faced with a complaint of a surety company, purporting to be a class action, seeking a refund of penalties it and others similarly situated had paid on behalf of retailers defaulting on sales and use tax, the court affirmed the lower court's entry of judgment in favor of the taxing authority. The court rejected the surety's contention that its right to due process of law was violated by the imposition of liability on it for penalties assessed against the defaulting taxpayers without advance notice that would enable it to pay the tax before any penalty was imposed. The facts of the case are very similar to those before this Court. The California appellate court noted that

[d]ue process, as it has evolved with respect to taxes, has been described in the following terms:

'It may be stated as a general rule that the due process clause of the <u>federal</u> <u>constitution</u>, <u>Amend. 14</u>, is satisfied in matters of taxation if, at some stage before a tax becomes irrevocable {sic} fixed the Taxpayer is given the right, of which he shall have notice, to contest the validity or amount of the tax before a board or tribunal provided for that purpose.' (Citations omitted).

Id. at 55.

Finding in favor of the Board, the court held,

Plaintiff argues that the taxing system, imposing penalties, is unreasonable; serves no useful purpose, punishes the surety rather than the actual wrongdoer, the defaulting taxpayer; and compels the surety to participate in an illegal contract. We find no merit in these contentions. The bonding requirement is a reasonable method of securing payment of revenue to the state. So, too, are the penalty provisions, the major purpose of which is to insure payment of taxes to the state, rather than to punish individual taxpayers or their sureties, who are not compelled to write bonds but do so for remuneration. Consideration of prompt payment is unusually present in the taxing situation when assurance is sought that revenue will be received in timely fashion from small business establishments, such as those whose bonds were the subject of this action by the plaintiff.

Id. at 56.

As argued below, the Commission deals with thousands of bonds. Contractors do not always bond all of their projects with the same surety, in the F&G case below, only six of fourteen bonds were written with F&G. (TR1, 26). When the contractor made his tax payments, the Commission had no way of knowing to which project the payments were related until the contractor was audited. Accordingly, the audit of the taxpayer in this case involved projects, income and tax liabilities unrelated to the F&G bonds. Unlike the Commission, the surety is in the first and best position to know how its principal is doing and to take action to protect its contractual obligations and potential liabilities. This argument was thoroughly developed and accepted by the lower court. (TR1, 29-39).

It is well settled that a creditor owes no duty to take care of the interests of the surety, that the surety is bound to take notice of the principal's default and that the surety cannot complain that the creditor has not notified the surety in the absence of a special agreement or express provision in the surety contract. See 74 AM. JUR. 2D, Suretyship, § 30.

The bonds in question contain no provision whatsoever requiring the Commission to notify the surety of any audit of the principal, of any assessment against the principal, of any hearing involving the principal or of any offer of settlement. In fact, the bonds recognize that the release of such information prior to the making of a claim would violate the confidentiality provisions of our tax law. The foregoing confidentiality provision makes it clear that not only are notifications of the kind demanded by Appellants not required by the bonds but the taxpayer only authorized the release of such information to the sureties in the specific event of a claim. If the Court were to rule in favor of Appellants on this issue, traditional notions of contract law would be upset in favor of an unprecedented constitutional standard that would completely ignore the express provisions of the bonds issued by Appellants and relied upon by the Commission as well as disrupt well-settled law.

In so far as the Appellants rely on the testimony of a Commission employee to make their case that confidentiality is not an issue, Meg Barnes, former Director of the Sales and Use Tax Bureau, simply misspoke during her deposition, when she was asked if there was anything that would prohibit providing F&G with copies of a notice of an audit, the audit results and the notice of the hearing before the Board of Review. (Rec02, 82) It is and has been the Commission's longstanding position that all of this communication is confidential and prohibited from disclosure to third parties short of written authorization from the taxpayer pursuant to Section 27-65-81 Miss. Code Ann. The Commission classifies information regarding a "return" to consist of return information which includes, among other things, the taxpayer's identity, address and account number; the nature or source or amount of payments, receipts, exemptions, credits, liabilities, tax liability and assessments; and whether a return is being, or will be examined or subject to other investigation, processing or collection activities.

Chancellor Wise agreed with this argument, writing in her order of October 21, 2008, "Aaim was the only entity entitled to the due process right afforded a taxpayer under United States or Mississippi law." The Court continued, "F&G is a large institution with extensive knowledge regarding the terms and enforcement of Bonds; therefore, this Court is convinced that F&G was aware and understood the confidentially [sic] policy and terms contained in the Rider and in the Mississippi Tax Code. . . . Further, this Court agrees with the Commission's assertion that they were statutorily prohibited from providing F&G with notice of the audit, assessment, and August 2, 2001 hearing." (Rec02, 776 at 781).

Sureties' Liability for Tax, Penalty and Interest

The penal sum of the bonds issued by the Appellants, as surety, on behalf of the construction companies, as principal, clearly provide for the payment of tax, penalty and interest, and payment thereof by Appellants to the Commission and is entirely consistent with Mississippi

law. Once again, courts "are bound to enforce contract language as written and give it its plain and ordinary meaning if it is clear and unambiguous." *Britt*, 2001-CA-01011-SCT ¶ 14. "There is an ambiguity in an insurance contract when the policy can be interpreted as having two or more reasonable meanings." *Id.* Here the riders provide as follows:

WHEREAS, under the provisions of Section 27-65-21, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the said Principal is required to and has furnished the attached bond guaranteeing payment of all taxes, damages, interest and penalties which may accrue to the State of Mississippi under Section 27-65-1 et seq., and Section 27-67-1 et seq., and Section 27-7-1 et seq., and Section 27-7-301 et seq., and Section 27-55-313, Mississippi Code of 1972, and amendments thereto, on account of entering into said contract.

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